FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/4/2020 3:32 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/5/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

99203-7

No. 81041-3-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

REBEKAH L. HART, individually,

Appellant,

v.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

PETITIONER, Rebekah L. Hart, the plaintiff below, seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision affirming the Trial Court's rulings relating to the application of RCW 4.22.070.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision was filed on August 24, 2020.

Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration was denied on October 5, 2020.

The Court of Appeals' slip opinion is attached hereto as Appendix A1 to A26. The Court of Appeals Order Denying the Motion for Reconsideration is attached hereto as Appendix A27-A28.

III. INTRODUCTION TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

As observed by one commentator in 1986, the Washington legislature adopted tort reform legislation, after an intense lobbying effort by the insurance industry, and other special groups, based on the arguably misguided belief that such legislation would make insurance more affordable and available. See, C. Peck, *Washington's Partial Reject and Modification of Common Law Rule of Joint and Several Liability, 62 Wash. L. Rev. 233, 234-35 (1987).* The "centerpiece" of the 1986 tort reform efforts was RCW 4.22.070, which provides that several, or a proportionate liability, was intended to be a new "general rule," in substitution for previously recognized joint and several liability principles.

See, *Tegman v. Accident and Medical Investigations, Inc.*, 150 Wn. 2d 102, 109, 75 P. 3d 497 (2003). At issue here is a core portion of that statute, RCW 4.22.070(1)(b), which newly created joint and several liability in cases where the plaintiff is deemed to be "fault-free" and a judgment is entered against one or more defendants.

RCW 4.22.070 was intended to act as a "substitution" for previously recognized common law "joint and several" liability principles; since its inception RCW 4.22.070(1)(b) has been recognized as consisting of only two elements, which have been applied by Washington's appellate courts in a straightforward and consistent fashion:

- (1) The plaintiff is determined to be "fault-free," and
- (2) The judgment has been entered against multiple defendant tortfeasors. See, e.g., *Kottler v. State*, 136 Wn. 2d 437, 446-47, 9638 P. 2d 834 (1998); *Washburn v. Beatt Equipment Co.*, 120 Wn. 2d 246, 294, 840 P. 2d 860 (1992).

The Court of Appeals' opinion in this case conflicts with these cases, and this longstanding interpretation. According to the Court of Appeals, such elements now only apply when the fact pattern involves a single accident with multiple defendants, or multiple accidents which result in "indivisible" injuries. (A6-A9)

The Courts of Appeals' statutory interpretation is plainly wrong and contrary to the clear and plain language of the statute at issue. Further, the Court of Appeals' decision is problematic because it approved a verdict form that allowed the jurors to allocate "fault" to a party who has previously been dismissed because they had engaged in no action constituting "fault" within the meaning of RCW 4.22.015, see, *Smelser v. Paul*, 188 Wn. 2d 648, 657, 398 P. 3d 1086 (2017), conflicting with the well-recognized rule in Washington that "fault" cannot be allocated to that non-negligent party. See, *Joyce v. Depart. of Corr.*, 116 Wn. App. 569, 594, 75 P. 3d 548 (2003), reversed in part on other grounds, 155 Wn. 2d 306, 119 P. 3d 825 (2005).

Over the objection of all parties, the Trial Court sua sponte, during the course of deliberations, modified the verdict form to permit an allocation of fault to an accident, caused by a previously dismissed defendant who the trial court had determined had, as a matter of law, engaged in no actionable wrongdoing.

According to the Court of Appeals, such actions were not erroneous, because the verdict form allowed for an allocation of damages based on proximate cause of injuries, regardless of the absence of any "fault" within the meaning of RCW 4.22.015, which under *Smelser*, is a

prerequisite for an allocation of fault under RCW 4.22.070. (A9-A10) The modified verdict form at Question No. 12, provided:

"Assume 100 percent represents the total and the combined **fault** for collisions that proximately caused the plaintiff's injuries and/or damages. What percentage of the 100 percent is attributable to the negligence or collision of each of the following...

(Emphasis added.)

To the collision of March 22, 2014.¹ (A copy of the verdict form is attached hereto as Appendix A29-A32).

The Court of Appeals decision, which alters the elements of RCW 4.22.070(1)(b), in an unprecedented and unreasonable manner, conflicts with prior Supreme Court precedent and involves a matter of substantial public concern within the meaning of RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). The same is true with respect to the Court of Appeals unprecedented willingness to allow for an allocation of fault to a party who it had previously dismissed due to insufficient evidence of "fault." This also conflicts with Supreme Court precedent and involves a matter of substantial public concern as to what is the meaning of RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

¹ The collision of March 22, 2014 related to an accident involving a vehicle being driven by former defendant, Brittany Powell, who had earlier been dismissed by the Trial Court as a defendant due to insufficient evidence of negligence "as a matter of law." The fact that the verdict form allocated to the "collision of March 22, 2014, as opposed to Brittany Powell as an individual, is a distinction without a difference and unimportant to the ultimate analysis in this case. They are factually the exact same thing.

IV. ISSUES

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals misapply and misinterpret RCW 4.22.070(1)(b) by limiting its application to cases involving a single accident and multiple defendants, or multiple accidents, but only if they are "indivisible" injuries?
- 2. Whether entry of judgment "severally" against multiple negligent defendants in a case where the plaintiff was fault-free contradicts RCW 4.22.070(b)(1)?
- 3. Whether a trial court can, and over the objection of all parties, revise the verdict form during deliberations in a manner which permitted the jury to allocate fault to a party it had previously determined had not engaged in an any "fault" within the meaning of RCW 4.22.015?
- 4. Can a dismissed defendant, who the Court ruled engaged in no action falling within the definition of "fault" in RCW 4.22.015, nevertheless be allocated "fault" under RCW 4.22.070's allocation scheme, under the theory that their non-wrongful actions were a proximate cause of injury?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Petitioner's Accidents and Her "Fault-Free" Status.

This lawsuit arises out of four separate automobile accidents involving the Plaintiff. The first and third accidents occurred at the same location, on a freeway overpass in Gig Harbor, Washington. RP 719,765;1524-28. In the third accident, defendant Barker admitted liability, and at trial, the jury determined a liability dispute on the first accident in favor of the plaintiff, finding defendants Prather and Knauer liable for that accident. RP 2559-2562, 4095; CP 786-89. In the second accident, plaintiff was found by the trial court, as a matter of law to be "fault free." (Supp CP – Order of January 3, 2014) RP 4095-96. On the fourth accident, which the Petitioner reluctantly brought suit on in response to a potential empty chair defense, the trial court granted a preverdict judgment as a matter of law, finding insufficient proof of any negligence on the part of the driver in that accident – Brittany Powell. RP 4018; CP 783-85, 989-991, 2393. Plaintiff was a passenger so could not be at fault.

Thus, by way of admission, court ruling and/or jury verdict, Petitioner was, in all instances, entirely "fault-free." At the close of the evidence, the trial court found as a matter of law that the plaintiff was "fault-free" with respect to not only the April 7, 2013 accident but also the December 22, 2009, and March 22, 2014 accidents. An instruction on comparative fault **was not** given to the jury, which returned a Verdict in plaintiff's favor (RP 4-4438) against defendants

Prather and Knauer, Stanton and Evans, and Barker. CP 2559-2562. Despite the fact that plaintiff was fault-free, judgments were entered against the multiple defendants severally, contrary to RCW 4.22.070(1)(b). RP 4446-48; CP 2731-2741.

B. Facts Relating to the Verdict Form

The court had previously found as a matter of law that there were no other potential "empty chairs" who could be subject to a fault allocation under RCW 4.22.070. As Defendant Powell was found to have engaged in no act of "negligence" and dismissed from the case prior to it being given to the jury, she could not be subject to a "fault" allocation under the terms of RCW 4.22.070 because she engaged in no action falling within the definition of "fault" set forth within RCW 4.22.015.

The trial court nevertheless, during deliberations, *sua sponte* submitted to the jurors a "revised" Verdict Form which for the first time included dismissed defendant Brittany Powell's accident in the allocation section. (A31-32) CP 2496-2500, 2559-2562; RP 4297-98. Petitioner objected to the trial court's *sua sponte* decision to revise the Verdict Form and it was unsupported by any request by the defense, who had previously conceded that, given her dismissal, Ms. Powell could not be subject to a fault allocation within the Verdict Form. RP of 2/20/18 pages; 4297-98.

The jurors allocated "20 percent fault" to Brittany Powell on the revised verdict form. The trial court then effectively treated dismissed Defendant Powell, who had done nothing wrong, as if she were an "empty chair" in its several judgment against the other defendants.

C. The Court of Appeals Decision

The Court of Appeals affirmed in all respects the trial court's decisions. The Court of Appeals rested its decision on a novel interpretation of RCW 4.22.070(1)(b), which can be distilled to a single proposition, that the terms of the statute, as it relates to "... their proportionate shares of [claimant's] total damage" "... must mean that joint liability applies only to injuries caused by *an* accident where more than one defendant is liable." (A8) The Court of Appeals went on to explain that according to its analysis, that the joint and several liability derived from RCW 4.22.070(1)(b) can only exist when there is a single accident caused by more than one defendant, or there must be multiple accidents resulting in an indivisible injury. (A8-A9).

The Appellate Court further rejected the notion that under the statutory scheme of which RCW 4.22.070(b)(1) is a part, that a party cannot be subject to an allocation, unless "fault" within the meaning of RCW 4.22.015 has been established. According to the Court of Appeals, even in the absence of "fault," under the terms of RCW 4.22.070, a party

can be allocated fault so long as their non-negligent actions proximately caused a party's injuries and/or damages.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals summarily rejected the notion that the verdict form was irreconcilably inconsistent because, even though the jury failed to find the injuries indivisible, it nevertheless awarded future damages - despite the fact that the last of the four accidents in question could not result in the imposition of any liability.

Petitioner substantially quarrels with the Appellate Court's veiled suggestion at Page 2 of its opinion that there was a substantial gap between the first two accidents. (A-2) Such a suggestion is unsupported by the record, which undisputedly established that on the date of the first accident itself, plaintiff sought medical care, and consistently thereafter, and prior to the second accident of December 22, 2009, sought out a wide variety of medical care that included, but was not limited to, 15 visits to her primary care doctor (CP 1130-1132), 25 physical therapy visits, 38 massage therapy sessions, and almost 50 chiropractic visits. (CP 1130-1134). Indeed, the day before the second collision – December 21, 2019, Ms. Hart was still complaining of ongoing symptoms to her chiropractor. (CP 1134).

In fact, it was and is undisputed that from the date of the first collision until time of trial, plaintiff continuously was symptomatic from

conditions which first appeared on March 1, 2009 when she was 17 years of age. Beyond acute cuts, bruises and strains, Petitioner from the date of the first accident forward, suffered an upper cervical spine injury that has caused her chronic debilitating migraines.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The Court of Appeals' Novel Interpretation of RCW 4.22.070(1)(b) is Unsupported by the Case Law and the Rules of Statutory Construction.

The Court of Appeals and the trial Court's misinterpretation of RCW 4.22.070(1) served to defeat the joint and several liability that the Legislature mandated under the statute's plain language, as consistently interpreted by Washington courts.

The Court of Appeals correctly pointed out that "ultimately you must harmonize related statutory provisions to carry out a consistent scheme that maintains the statute's integrity," citing to, *King County v. King County Water Dist. No. 20*, 194 Wn. 2d 453 P. 3d 681 (2019), but its analysis failed to do so. (A-7) Statutes pertinent to this appeal are RCW 4.22.015; RCW 4.22.030 and RCW 4.22.070, which are set forth in the Appendix at pages A33 to A35.

RCW 4.22.030, provides:

Except as otherwise provided in RCW 4.22.070, if more than one person is liable to a claimant on an indivisible claim for the same injury, death, or

harm, the liability of such person shall be joint and several. (Emphasis added). (A33)

RCW 4.22.070 has no similar language. Nearly since its enactment, RCW 4.22.070(1)(b) has been recognized as providing joint and several liability when there is a fault-free plaintiff and judgment has been entered against multiple defendant tortfeasors. See, *Washburn v. Beatt Equipment Co.*, 120 Wn. 2d 246, 294, 840 P. 2d 860 (1992).

The Kottler case, relied upon by the Court of Appeals to recognize RCW 4.22.070(b)(1), only has two elements: (1) "where plaintiff is fault-free," and, (2) the "Court entered judgment against two or more defendants," joint and several liability applies. 136 Wn.2d at 446. Kottler in no way alters the basic elements of RCW 4.22.070(1)(b). Professor Gregory C. Sisk's law review article, "Interpretation of Statutory Modification of Joint and Several Liability: Resisting The Deconstruction of Tort Reform," 16 Puget Sound L. Rev. 1, 43, (1992), provides the following analysis of the meaning of RCW 4.22.070(b)(1):

Under Paragraph (1)(b), if the plaintiff is determined to be without fault, the defendants found at fault by judgment remain jointly and severally liable for the sum of their proportionate shares of the claimant(s) total damages. Each defendant thus, is fully responsible for its own share of the damages and for the proportionate shares of every other entity which have been joined as a defendant to and against whom a legitimate judgment of fault is entered.

(Emphasis added and in original) (Footnotes omitted)

The Court of Appeals nonetheless interpreted *Kottler* and terms "the sum of their proportionate liability" to mean that joint and several liability applies only to injuries caused by a single accident, where more than one defendant is liable or in cases of "indivisible" injury. This interpretation is unsupported by statutory language or any prior case law. No scholarly commentator has ever taken such a position. Indeed, the Appellate Court's interpretation of the clause, "the sum of their proportionate shares," would essentially eviscerate the statutory purposes creating joint and several liability when there is a fault-free plaintiff and a judgment is entered against one or more defendants.

Under the appellate court's formulation, which essentially removes the plural from the statutory term "shares," any time there is a judgment against more than one defendant it can only be for the "sum of their proportionate liability." That is nothing more than several liability—which the very statute in question disavows. That is not what the statute provides for and would be contrary to its very purposes. The case of *Smith v. Rodene*, 69 Wn. 2d 482, 484, 418, P. 2d 741 (1969) does not bolster the Court of Appeals' conclusion. (A8 n.6)

It is a well-recognized canon of statutory construction that under the guise of interpreting a statute, the Court cannot read into the statute that which they may believe the legislature has omitted either intentionally or inadvertently. See, *In Re: Marriage of Worthley*, 198 Wn. App. 419, 425, 393 P. 3d 859 (2017), citing to, *In Re: Custody of Smith*, 137 Wn. 2d 1, 12, 969 P. 2d 21 (1998). When a statute is unambiguous, and the words of the statute are clear and unequivocal, Courts are required to assume the legislature meant exactly what they said and apply the statute as written. *Id.* Court's cannot amend statutes by judicial construction, or re-write the statutes to avoid difficulty in construing and applying them. *Id.* Citing to *In Re: Parentage of C.A.M.A.*, 154 Wn. 2d 52, 60, 109 P. 3d 405 (2005).

It is possible that the Appellate Court's formulation of its statutory construction analysis was motivated by its concern that application of the plain meaning of the statute would result in the harsh consequences of a tortfeasor being held liable for injuries for which their contribution, at best, was only slight. But such a scenario is substantially ameliorated by the fact that the defendants who are found to be jointly and severally liable under the terms of this statute can seek contribution from one another under another part of the statutory scheme. See, RCW 4.22.040 -.060.

It is also contrary to the strong public policy that innocent victims of third-party tortfeasors should be fully compensated for their injuries.

Thiringer v. Am. Motors Ins., 92 Wn. 2d 215, 588 P.2d 191 (1978). Here, the fact the jury found injuries were divisible, i.e., subject to allocation, does not change the fact that each defendant against whom judgment was

entered contributed, at least in part, to a chronic partially debilitating injury that warranted an award of substantial past and future damages.

It was within the province of the Legislature to impose joint and several liability to ensure an innocent victim (fault-free) of multiple torts be fully compensated, from those who, in any way, contributed to her injury through tortious conduct.

Additionally, the facts set forth within *Smith v. Rodene*, 69 Wn. 2d 482, 484, 418 P.2d 741 (1966) relied upon by the Court of Appeals, can rarely, if ever occur. In *Smith v. Rodene*, the plaintiff joined two automobile accidents in a single lawsuit, even though the accidents and related injuries "were separated by distance and time causing separate harms." A8, n.6. The Supreme Court found under these distinguishable facts there could be no joint and several liability.

Absent some factual basis for an assertion that either liabilities and/or damages overlap, the two claims unlikely would ever be joined together in one lawsuit because they lack a common core of facts that could even warrant a "permissive joinder" under the terms of CR 20. Should a plaintiff attempt to join separate accidents that resulted in two entirely different injuries into one lawsuit, consolidation would be denied and/or a motion to sever the causes of action would be granted. In other words, the potential for the harsh consequences the Court of Appeals was

attempting to avoid, are more imagined than real. Here, albeit as a percentage, each defendant at least in part contributed to the same chronic injury.

As it is, there is no rule within the State of Washington that joint and several liability cannot be applied where there have been two accidents otherwise separated by distance or time, particularly if there is an overlap of injury. (A-8, n.6) *Cox v. Spangler*, 141 Wn. 2d 431, 5 P. 3d 1265 (2000) (indivisible injury despite 6 months between accidents). Nor is there anything within the language of RCW 4.22.070(1)(b) which suggests that there can be joint and several liability only when there is an "indivisible injury."

Indeed, application of the rules of statutory construction results in the opposite conclusion. By its terms, RCW 4.22.030 addresses indivisible injury, and preserves joint and several liability under the circumstances where an "indivisible" injury occurs. By its terms, RCW 4.22.030 limits the application of the "indivisible injury" doctrine to facts consistent with RCW 4.22.070. In other words, in order to have joint and several liability under an indivisible injury theory, RCW 4.22.070 must be taken into consideration. But there is nothing in the language of either RCW 4.22.030 or 4.22.070 which indicates that in order for there to be joint and several liability under RCW 4.22.070(1)(b) there also has to

be a finding of "indivisible injury," or that RCW 4.22.030 must even be considered. To hold otherwise is to read something into these statutes that does not exist.

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