FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/3/2020 3:42 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99203-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Rebekah L. Hart, Appellant

v.

Emily Prather, et al, Respondents

ANSWER OF RESPONDENTS EMILY PRATHER AND PARKER KNAUER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory S. Worden, WSBA #24262 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 2700 Seattle, Washington 98101 Attorney for Respondent Emily Prather

Joseph R. Kopta, WSBA #17682 Kopta & Macpherson 5801 Soundview Dr Ste 258 Gig Harbor, WA 98335-2200 Attorney for Respondent Prather

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Review should be denied because the Court of Appeals' decision to

²¹ Id.

²⁵ *Id.* at 23.

¹⁹ CP 2512-2514

²⁰ RP February 20, 2018, Pg. 12.

²² Id. at 13.

²³ *Id.* at 15.

²⁴ Id. at 18.

affirm several liability in a case involving multiple unrelated accidents and divisible injuries is consistent with Washington precedent, and with RCW 4.22.070 and the policy behind that statute.

A. <u>Considerations Governing Acceptance Of Review</u> <u>Compel Rejection Of The Petition</u>.

RAP 13.4 sets forth the considerations governing acceptance of

review:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Petitioner argues that review is appropriate under subsections (1) and (4). But that argument should be rejected because the Court of Appeals' decision to affirm a judgment finding several liability and allocating damages between four car accidents that were unrelated and separated by time does not conflict with any published decision by the Washington Supreme Court or Court of Appeals and does not conflict with RCW 4.22.070. Further, given that the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with Washington law, no substantial public interest would be furthered by the Supreme Court accepting review. The Petition should be denied.

B. <u>Review Should Be Denied Because The Decision Of The</u> <u>Court Of Appeals To Affirm A Judgment Providing</u> <u>Several Liability Does Not Conflict With Any Decision</u> <u>From The Supreme Or Court Of Appeals And Does Not</u> <u>Conflict with RCW 4.22.070.</u>

Contrary to what is asserted in the Petition, the Court of Appeals' affirmance of the judgment providing for several liability in this case is consistent with text of RCW 4.22.070 and with the public policy behind that statute.

As noted in the Court of Appeals decision, "Through the 1986 tort reform act, the legislature abrogated the common law rule of joint and several liability, leaving several liability as the default. Afoa, 191 Wn.2d at 119."²⁶ The Court of Appeals decision also cited the statutory exception that applies when a plaintiff is not at fault:

1) ... The liability of each defendant shall be several only and not be joint except:

. . .

²⁶ Hart v. Prather, 2020 Wash.App. LEXIS 2365 at 7, (citing Afoa v. Port of Seattle, 191 Wn.2d 110,119, 421 P.3d 903 (2018)

(b) If the trier of fact determines that the claimant or party suffering bodily injury or incurring property damages was not at fault, the defendants against whom judgment is entered shall be jointly and severally liable for the sum of their proportionate shares of the claimants [claimant's] total damages.²⁷

Plaintiff Hart makes the untenable argument that the language cited above provides for joint and several liability even if, as here, the plaintiff's damages arose from multiple accidents and those damages were divisible such that if joint and several liability were imposed, then defendants would be held jointly and severally liable for injuries that those defendants did not cause and to which they did not even contribute.

The Court of Appeals cited to the statute and case precedent to correctly reject Plaintiff Hart's argument, and instead correctly held that joint and several liability applies only to injuries caused by an accident where more than one defendant is liable:

> RCW 4.22.070(1)(b), as interpreted by <u>Kottler</u>, provides that joint and several liability applies when the plaintiff was not at fault and the defendants are jointly liable for "the sum of their proportionate liability."136 Wn.2d at 446. This must mean that joint liability applies only to injuries caused by an accident where more than one defendant is liable. Thus, for example, defendants Parker and Knauer—who were involved in only the first accident—cannot be held jointly liable under the statute for injuries caused by the second and third accidents. This is the only reasonable interpretation of the statute as to this issue, so it is not ambiguous.

²⁷ RCW 4.22.070

Here, where there were multiple unrelated accidents and the jury determined Hart's damages were divisible as between the accidents, the legislature's policy choice to make several liability the default rule applies. See <u>Cox v.</u> <u>Spangler</u>, 141 Wn.2d 431, 446, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000) (noting that joint liability applies when there is either concert of action or independent torts uniting to cause a single injury). The trial court did not err.²⁸

The Court of Appeals pointed out in footnote 5 that it would be an absurd construction to hold Parker and Knauer, who were involved in only the first accident, to be liable for injuries caused by later accidents - with the Court of Appeals stating, "To this point, we note that we avoid readings of statutes that produce absurd results. <u>Benson,</u> 4 Wn.App. at 26.²⁹"

The absurdity of Plaintiff's interpretation that would make defendants like Prather and Knauer jointly and severally liable for injuries caused only by later accidents is illustrated by a hypothetical similar to that raised by Judge Chun during oral argument before the Court of Appeals. Under Ms. Hart's interpretation of RCW 4.22.070, there would be joint and several liability in a case where (1) there were two accidents at issue in one lawsuit, (2) the plaintiff was not at fault for either accident; (3) the first accident resulted in only a broken finger and in the second accident the

²⁸ Hart v. Prather, 2020 Wash.App. LEXIS 2365 at 7, (citing Kottler v. State, 136 Wn.2d 437, 963 P.2d 834 (1998).

²⁹ Hart v. Prather, 2020 Wash.App. LEXIS 2365 at 8 fn. 5, (citing Benson v. State, 4 Wn.App.2d 21, 26, 419 P.3d 484 (2018).

plaintiff was paralyzed. Such an interpretation would result in a defendant who caused only a broken finger in the first accident being jointly liable for the paralysis caused by the second accident, and such a result would be grossly unfair and absurd.

Further, as noted by the Court of Appeals in footnote 6, the interpretation of RCW 4.22.070 asserted by Plaintiff Hart would run counter to the purpose of RCW 4.22.070, which was to limit the application of joint and several liability:

Even if RCW 4.22.070 were ambiguous, legislative history would compel us to reach the same result. Through the 1986 tort reform act (Act), the legislature sought to limit the applicability of joint liability. See <u>Duke v. Boyd</u>, 133 Wn.2d 80, 93, 942 P.2d 351 (1997) (stating that the purpose of the Act "was to limit causes of action for injured plaintiffs"). Before the Act, the Washington Supreme Court had declined to impose joint liability when a plaintiff's injuries resulted from multiple, unrelated accidents. See <u>Smith v. Rodene</u>, 69 Wn.2d 482, 484, 418 P.2d 741 (1966) (determining no joint liability where two independent torts, separated by distance and time, caused separate harms). Thus, to expand joint liability to hold defendants liable for divisible injuries would contradict the legislature's purpose in passing the Act.³⁰

As referenced by the Court of Appeals in footnote 5, the decision of the trial court and Court of Appeals to apply several liability when there were multiple individual accidents and divisible damages is fully consistent

³⁰ Hart v. Prather, 2020 Wash.App. LEXIS 2365 at fn. 6.

with Washington case law regarding successive tortfeasor liability.

In successive tortfeasor cases, joint and several liability applies only "if the jury finds that the harm is indivisible."³¹ Where there is no such finding of an indivisible injury, joint and several liability shall not apply to successive tortfeasors. In fact, the Washington Supreme Court recognized that joint and several liability applies only, "so long as each tort-feasor's conduct is found to have been a proximate cause of the <u>indivisible</u> harm."³²

In contrast to the judgment entered by the trial Court and the decision of the Court of Appeals, both of which were consistent with the text and policy of RCW 4.22.070 and with Washington case law regarding successive tortfeasor liability, the Petition by Plaintiff Hart cites no Washington case that would expand joint and several liability to cases where there were multiple independent accidents and divisible injuries. Accordingly, there is no appropriate basis to grant the Petition for review.

C. <u>Review Should Be Denied Because The Decision Of The</u> <u>Court Of Appeals To Affirm The Trial Court's Entry of</u> <u>Judgment Based On A Verdict Form That Allowed The</u> <u>Jury To Divide Damages In Accord With Four Unrelated</u> <u>Accidents Does Not Conflict With Any Decision From</u> <u>The Supreme Or Court Of Appeals And Does Not</u> Conflict with RCW 4.22.070.

³¹ Phennah v. Whalen, 28 Wn.App. 19, 29, 621 P.2d 1304 (1980)..

³² Seattle First National Bank v. Shoreline Concrete, 91 Wn.2d 230, 236, 588 P.2d 1308 (1978) (emphasis added).

Likewise, Plaintiff Hart's criticism of the verdict form for allowing damages to be apportioned to the March 22, 2014 Powell accident provides no basis for this Court to grant review.

Verdict forms are reviewed under the same standard used for jury instructions. As such, they are not deemed erroneous "if they permit each party to argue their theory of the case, are not misleading, and when read as a whole, properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law."³³ In *Canfield*, the court determined that no error was found in the verdict form when it failed to prevent the appealing party from arguing its theory of the case.³⁴ The appealing party was able to argue to the jury, both in closing and rebuttal, that if the relevant statements amounted to defamation per se, then damages could be presumed as long as they were the proximate result of the statements made.³⁵

In this case, the verdict form was similarly sufficient. Plaintiff Hart was able to, and did, make her liability arguments about each corresponding accident, as well as her argument that her injuries were not divisible.³⁶ For example, in Plaintiff's rebuttal argument, Plaintiff's counsel referenced Question 11 on the verdict form, emphasizing the importance of the jury's

³³ Canfield v. Clark, 196 Wn.App. 191, 199, 385 P.3d 156 (2016).

³⁴ *Id.* at 201.

³⁵ Id.

³⁶ RP 4376-4377; 4261; and 4276.

answer to the question "Given the timeline of the collisions set forth above, were some of the plaintiff's economic and noneconomic injuries indivisible injuries?"³⁷ Plaintiff's counsel relayed to the jury his view that the obvious answer to this question would be "Absolutely yes."³⁸ In fact, the Special Verdict Form, and this question especially, provided Plaintiff a considerable benefit, in that it would have imposed joint and several liability to apply to all involved collisions, even if only some, not all, of the injuries were deemed to be indivisible.

Further question 12 regarding the March 22, 2014 Powell accident, in combination with the 11 prior questions, allowed the trial judge to enter several judgments for damages pursuant to the jury's findings that none of the injuries were indivisible. By using the language in Question 12 regarding "What percentage of the 100% is attributable to the negligence or collision," the verdict form allowed the jury to properly apportion damages between each of the collisions. When read as a whole, and with the inclusion of the jury instructions, the verdict form effectively informed the jury of the applicable law, or as stated by Plaintiff's counsel, "helped in providing needed clarity."³⁹

Further, as noted by the Court of the Appeals, Question 12 on the

³⁷ RP 4376.

³⁸ RP 4376.

³⁹ RP February 20, 2018, Pg. 23.

verdict form did not violate RCW 4.22.070 because it was not allocating fault to Powell (who had been dismissed) but was rather allowing the jury to divide divisible damages between the four separate and distinct accidents in which Ms. Hart had been involved:

> Hart asserts that the court erred by permitting the jury to allocate fault to Powell. But this mischaracterizes the special verdict form. Question 12 on the verdict form provides, "Assume 100% represents the total of the combined fault or collisions that proximately caused plaintiff's injuries and/or damages. What percentage of the 100% is attributable to the negligence or collisions of each of the following[.]" (Emphasis added.) The special verdict form then lists the March 1, 2009 collision, defendant Stanton, defendant Nelson, defendant Barker, and the collision of March 22, 2014. Because the question allowed the jury to assign a percentage of responsibility for Hart's injuries to defendants or collisions, it was apparent from the question that the jury was not assigning fault to Powell. It also was clear to the jury that they were not assigning fault to Powell given that Question 5 stated that Powell was not negligent on March 22, 2014. Finally, Instruction 25 told the jury that Powell was not negligent but that they could consider the accident for the effect it had on Hart's injuries.

> As the trial court stated, the question asked the jury "to divide the damages in accordance with the four accidents, regardless of who is at fault." Because the jury considered the March 22, 2014 accident for only its effect on Hart's injuries, we conclude its inclusion on the special verdict for did not violate RCW 4.22.070.⁴⁰

Plaintiff Hart cites no published case from the Supreme Court or

Court of Appeals which would have prohibited the trial court from allowing

⁴⁰ Hart v. Prather, 2020 Wash.App. LEXIS 2365 at 12-13.

the jury to divide Ms. Hart's damages between all of the independent accidents in which she was involved. To do otherwise would have been contrary to Washington law because it would have made the defendants liable for damages Plaintiff sustained in the Powell accident when the actions of none of the other defendants caused the injuries that Ms. Hart sustained in that accident.

D. <u>Review Should Be Denied Because No Substantial Public</u> <u>Interest Would Be Furthered By The Supreme Court</u> <u>Accepting Review.</u>

The Petition should be denied for the additional reason that it presents no issue of substantial public importance that requires determination by this Court. In her Petition, Ms. Hart invites this Court to create a non-existent ambiguity in RCW 4.22.070; to ignore established Washington precedent in matters involving successive tortfeasors and multiple accidents; and to create law that could hold defendants liable for catastrophic injuries that they had no role in causing. The public interest would be best served by this Court declining that invitation and allowing the Court of Appeals decision to stand.

VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Court of Appeals decision was well reasoned and consistent with Washington law. Petitioner Hart has not shown that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a published decision of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals. Ms. Hart likewise has not shown that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with RCW 4.22.070. Ms. Hart has not shown that the Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. None of the criteria set out in RAP 13.4(b) have been met. This Court should deny the Petition for Review.

DATED this 3rd day of December, 2020.

Respectfully submitted,

<u>s/Gregory S. Worden</u> Gregory S. Worden, WSBA #24262

LEWIS, BRISBOIS, BISGAARD & SMITH, LLP 1111 3rd Ave., Suite 2700 Seattle, WA 98101 Phone: (206) 436-2020 Fax: (206) 436-2030 Gregory.Worden@lewisbrisbois.com Attorneys for Respondent Emily Prather

<u>/s/Joseph R. Kopta</u>

Joseph R. Kopta, WSBA #17682 Kopta & Macpherson 5801 Soundview Dr Ste 258 Gig Harbor, WA 98335-2200 *Attorney for Respondent Prather* /s/Nathaniel J. R. Smith_

Nathaniel J. R. Smith, WSBA #28302 Soha & Lang, P.S. 1325 Fourth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98101 *Attorney for Respondents Knauer and Prather*

/s/Jeffrey D. Coats Jeffrey D. Coats, WSBA #32198 Law Offices of Mark M. Miller 15500 SE 30th Place, Suite 201 Bellevue, WA 98007 Attorney for Respondents Knauer and Prather